IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA (Lower Court Case No.: 4D05-746)

CASE NO. SC05-1395

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

vs.

JEFFREY LOVELACE,

Respondent.

PETITIONER-S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

CHARLES J. CRIST, Jr.

Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

CELIA TERENZIO

Bureau Chief, West Palm Beach Florida Bar No. 656879

LAURA FISHER ZIBURA

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0337020 1515 North Flagler Drive 9th Floor West Palm Beach, FL 33401-3432 Telephone: (561) 837-5000 Facsimile: (561) 837-5099

Counsel for Petitioner <u>

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Petitioner was the Prosecution and Respondent was the Defendant in the

Criminal Division of the Circuit Court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Broward County, Florida. In this brief, the parties shall be referred to as they appear before this Honorable Court of Appeal except that Petitioner may also be referred to as the State.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This is case is before this Court on discretionary review of an opinion issued by the Fourth District Court of Appeals, <u>Lovelace v. State</u>, 906 So. 2d 1258 (Fla. 4th DCA 2005). The Fourth District certified direct conflict with the First District=s opinion <u>State v.</u> Jackson, 784 So. 2d 1229 (Appendix A).

Respondent, Jeffrey Lovelace, was arrested on August 11, 2004 and given a traffic citation for Misdemeanor DUI. On November 12, 2004, ninety three (93) days after the arrest, Defendant/Respondent (hereinafter referred to as **A**Respondent@) filed a notice in County Court of the expiration of the speedy trial period. (Appendix B).

Seven days later, on November 19, 2004, the State filed a **A**no information@ in County Court for the Misdemeanor DUI. On November 30, 2004, Respondent filed a Motion to Discharge in County Court, arguing that the charges should be dismissed because the speedy trial time period had run. (Appendix B).

On December 1, 2004, Petitioner filed an information in Circuit Court charging Respondent with felony DUI under Chapter 2002-263 (2002) which states:

any person who is convicted of a third violation of this section for an offense that occurs within ten years after a prior conviction for a violation of this section commits a felony in the third degree . . .

(Appendix C).

On December 6, 2004, the County Court Judge issued an Order on Respondents Motion to Discharge, finding that it lacked jurisdiction to consider the motion because the State had filed a Ano information@ on November 19, 2004, notifying the County Court that it would not be filing misdemeanor charges. (Appendix C).

On December 28, 2004, Respondent moved to discharge in Circuit Court, alleging a violation of the speedy trial rule. On January 31, 2005, Petitioner filed a Response opposing the Motion for Discharge. (Appendix C).

On February 16, 2005, the Circuit Court issued an Order denying Defendant=s Motion to Dismiss. (Appendix C).

On February 22, 2005, Defendant filed a Petition for Writ of Prohibition asking the Fourth District Court of Appeal to issue an Order prohibiting the Circuit Court from proceeding with the prosecution. (Appendix B). The State issued its Response on March 14, 2005. (Appendix C). Defendant filed a Reply on March 24, 2005 (Appendix D).

On June 1, 2005, the Fourth District Court of Appeals issued an Opinion finding that the county court should have granted defendant=s motion for discharge of the misdemeanor DUI based on the expiration of the speedy trial period. The District Court certified conflict with <u>State v. Jackson</u>, 784 So. 2d 1229 (Fla. 1st DCA 2001. (Appendix E).

The State moved for re-hearing on June 15, 2005 (Appendix F) and Defendant filed a Response. (Appendix G). On July 27, 2005, the Court withdrew its previous opinion and replaced it with the subject opinion. (Appendix A). However, the Court=s reasoning and decision remained the same as the original opinion and the Court again

certified direct conflict with State v. Jackson, 784 So. 2d 1229 (Fla. 1st DCA 2001).

Petitioner filed a notice to invoke discretionary jurisdiction. This Court postponed its decision on jurisdiction and issued a briefing schedule.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

THE CONFLICT BETWEEN THE DECISION OF THE FOURTH DISTRICT IN THE INSTANT CASE AND THE FIRST DISTRICT IN <u>STATE V. JACKSON</u> SHOULD BE RESOLVED IN FAVOR OF <u>JACKSON</u>.

In Lovelace v. State, 906 So. 2d 1258 (Fla. 4th DCA 2005), the Fourth District Court of Appeals addressed the question of whether a violation of the speedy trial rule for a misdemeanor DUI charge precludes a felony DUI charge based on the same incident and prior DUI convictions. Citing to this Court=s decision in <u>State v. Agee</u>, 622 So. 2d 473 (Fla. 1993) and Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.191(o), the Fourth District held that the county court should have granted Lovelace=s motion for discharge based on an expiration of the speedy trial period, certifying direct conflict with <u>State v. Jackson</u>, 784 So. 2d 1229 (Fla. 1st DCA 2001) *rev=denied*, 805 So. 2d 807(Fla. 2002). Petitioner argues that the conflict between the Fourth District in the instant case and the First District in <u>Jackson</u> should be resolved in favor of <u>Jackson</u>, a case with a substantially similar facts to the case at bar. Petitioner further argues that the Fourth District=s reliance on <u>Agee</u> and 3.191(o) for its holding that the State violated the speedy trial rule was error and should be quashed.

ARGUMENT

THE CONFLICT BETWEEN THE DECISION OF THE FOURTH DISTRICT IN THE INSTANT CASE AND THE FIRST DISTRICT IN <u>STATE V. JACKSON</u> SHOULD BE RESOLVED IN FAVOR OF <u>JACKSON</u>.

Jurisdiction

In <u>Lovelace v. State</u>, 906 So. 2d 1258 (Fla. 4th DCA 2005)¹, the Fourth District Court of Appeals addressed the question of whether a violation of the speedy trial rule for a misdemeanor DUI charge precludes a felony DUI charge based on the same incident and prior DUI convictions. Citing to this Courts decision in <u>State v. Agee</u>, 622 So. 2d 473 (Fla. 1993) and Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.191(o), the District Court held that the county court should have granted Lovelaces motion for discharge based on an expiration of the speedy trial period, certifying direct conflict with <u>State v. Jackson</u>, 784 So. 2d 1229 (Fla. 1st DCA 2001) *rev= denied* 805 So. 2d 807(Fla. 2002). The Petitioner moved to invoke discretionary jurisdiction. This Court reserved ruling on jurisdiction, and imposed a briefing schedule.

Standard of Review

AA trial court=s ruling on a motion to dismiss based on a question of law is subject to de novo review.@ <u>Execu-Tech Business Systems, Inc. v. New Oji Paper Co. Ltd.</u>, 752 So.2d 582, 584 (Fla. 2000).

¹After the Fourth District issued its opinion on June 1, 2005, the State filed a motion for rehearing. The Fourth then substituted that opinion with the opinion on review here.

Petitioner argues that the conflict between the decision of the Fourth District in the instant case and the First District in <u>Jackson</u> should be resolved in favor of <u>Jackson</u>. Petitioner further argues that the Fourth District=s reliance on <u>Agee</u> and 3.191(o) for its holding that the State violated the speedy trial rule was error and should be quashed.

Under Fla. R. of Criminal Procedure 3.191(a), the State is required to bring misdemeanors to trial within 90 days and felonies within 175 days. The crime of DUI under ' 316.193(1), Fla. Stat. (2004), is a first-degree misdemeanor. Therefore, the speedy trial period for misdemeanor DUI expires 90 days after the defendant is arrested. However, a third or subsequent DUI conviction is a third-degree felony. ' 316.193(2)(b), Fla. Stat. (2004). As such, the speedy trial period for a violation under ' 316.191(2)(b) expires 175 days after the defendant is arrested.

The following is a summary of relevant facts contained in the Fourth Districts opinion in Lovelace:

Defendant was arrested and issued a citation for misdemeanor DUI on August 11, 2004. A few days after the ninety day speedy trial period expired, defendant filed a notice of expiration of speedy trial time on November 15, 2004, in county court. The state then filed a **A**no information@ on November 19, 2004. Defendant was not brought to trial and moved for discharge on November 30, 2004, which was the end of the fifteen day recapture period.

The next day, on December 1, 2004, the state filed a felony DUI charge in circuit court based on the same incident and prior DUI convictions. See Section 316.193(2)(b)1, Fla. Stat. (2004). The county court in which the misdemeanor charge had been pending held a hearing on defendants motion for discharge on December 6, 2004 and concluded it had no jurisdiction to

grant the motion because of the Ano information@filed by the state. * * *

After the county court concluded it had no jurisdiction to grant the motion for discharge, defendant filed a motion for discharge in circuit court, where the felony information was pending, which was denied. His motion was based on <u>State v. Woodruff</u>, 676 So. 2d 975 (Fla. 1996). In which it was held that the discharge of a misdemeanor DUI in county court based on the speedy trial rule would preclude a felony prosecution based on the same incident and prior DUI convictions. * * *

<u>Id</u>.

(Appendix A).

The Fourth District Court concluded that under <u>State v. Agee</u>, 622 So. 2d 473,475 (Fla. 1993) and Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.191(o), that the county court should have granted defendants motion for discharge of the misdemeanor DUI based on the expiration of the speedy trial period. <u>Id</u>. Citing to <u>State v. Woodruff</u>, 676 So. 2d 975 (Fla. 1996), the Fourth District stated that the discharge of the county court misdemeanor precludes the states prosecution for felony DUI as it requires a conviction of the misdemeanor charge and two prior DUI convictions. <u>Id</u>.

The state argued below, that the 175 felony speedy trial period should have applied to the instant case, relying on the reasoning of <u>State v. Jackson</u>. <u>Id</u>. Although the Fourth District rejected this argument, it certified direct conflict with <u>Jackson</u>.

Petitioner argues that the District Court erred when it rejected the holding in <u>Jackson</u>, a case addressing a nearly identical speedy trial issue with substantially similar facts as the case at bar. In <u>Jackson</u>, the state entered a nolle prosse in county court for

the misdemeanor DUI charges prior to the expiration of the 90 day speedy trial period. Defendant filed a notice of expiration of speedy trial in county court 96 days after the expiration of the speedy trial period. <u>Id</u>. The State then filed felony DUI charges. <u>Id</u>. The First District held that because the felony DUI charge was filed well before the speedy trial deadline for felonies, the charges did not violate the speedy trial rule. <u>Id</u>. The <u>Jackson</u> Court reasoned that because the state nolle prosequi the county court charges, the circuit court obtained exclusive jurisdiction pursuant to ' 26.12(2)(d), which states that the circuit court shall have exclusive original jurisdiction of all felonies and all misdemeanors arising of the same circumstances as a felony which is also charged. <u>Id</u>. *citing to* <u>Ledlow v. State</u>, 743 So. 2d 165 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999). In support of this conclusion, the <u>Jackson</u> Court included the following language from this Court=s Woodruff opinion:

[t]he speedy trial rule does not bar prosecution of greater degree crimes because defendants charged with misdemeanors **A**ought to be in no better position . . than [they] would have been had [the misdemeanors] not been filed insofar as the time within which [the defendants] must be brought to trial on the felony charge [s] is concerned.@

<u>Id.</u> at 1230.

Like <u>Jackson</u>, the analysis of the instant case begins with an arrest for misdemeanor DUI. As stated in the factual summary above, Respondent filed a notice of expiration of speedy trial. The state then filed a **A**no information@in county court. The State, upon learning of two prior DUI convictions, filed a felony information in circuit court. The information was filed well before the expiration of the felony speedy trial limit. Applying the reasoning of <u>Jackson</u>, the circuit court held that the county court lost jurisdiction and therefore could not grant a motion for discharge. This Court has held that although a nolle prosequi does not toll the running of the speedy trial period, charges may be re-filed if the speedy trial period has not run. <u>Williams v. State</u>, 622 So. 2d 477 (Fla. 1993). Because the felony information was filed well before the expiration of the 175 day felony speedy trial period, no speedy trial violation occurred in this case.

The Fourth District=s reliance on this Court=s holding in <u>State v. Agee</u>, 622 So. 2d 473 (Fla. 1993) is misplaced, as there are substantial factual differences between <u>Agee</u> and the instant case. The Fourth District stated that it was unable to reconcile the holding in <u>Jackson</u> that after the state nolle prossed the misdemeanor DUI in county court, the county court no longer had jurisdiction to grant the motion for discharge based on a violation of the speedy trial rule, with <u>Agee</u>, which holds that when a state enters a nol pros, the speedy trial period continues to run and the <u>State may not re-file charges</u> <u>based on the same conduct **after the period has expired**. (Emphasis added).</u>

In <u>Agee</u>, the new information was filed well after the expiration of the 175 felony speedy trial period. <u>Agee</u> was charged with attempted second degree murder for shooting the victim, who was shot and rendered comatose. <u>Id</u>. at 474. Thirty three days prior to the expiration of the speedy trial period, the State filed a nolle prosequi, noting that the victim was in a coma and there were no witnesses. <u>Id</u>. Long after the original 175

speedy trial period had run, the State filed an information for attempted first degree murder, after the victim emerged from his coma and witnesses were located. <u>Id</u>. This Court held that when the state enters a nolle prosse, the speedy trial period continues to run and the state may not file new charges based on the same conduct. <u>Id</u>. at 475.

Thus, two very critical factual distinctions make the holding of <u>Agee</u> inapplicable to this case. First, the state in this case, did not **re-file** the misdemeanor DUI charge, it **filed** a felony DUI charge **after** it filed a **A**no information@ in county court of the misdemeanor DUI. Second, the felony information in the instant case was filed well before the expiration of the 175 felony speedy trial period.

The Fourth District also stated that it could not reconcile the language of Fla. R.Crim. P. 3.191(o), which states that the speedy trial rule shall not be avoided by filing a nolle prosse and then prosecuting a new crime based on the same conduct, with the <u>Jackson</u> holding. Petitioner argues that because misdemeanor DUI and felony DUI are not the same crime, this rule does not apply to the instant case. In <u>Agee</u>, defendant was originally charged with attempted second degree murder and then charged with attempted first degree murder, after the victim recovered and the state located witnesses. Since <u>Agee</u> was charged with different degrees of the same crime, 3.191(o) applied. Here, defendant was charged first with misdeamor DUI and second, with felony DUI. This Court in <u>State v. Woodruff</u>, 676 So. 2d 975 (Fla. 1996), explained that misdemeanor DUI and felony DUI are not the same crime:

[E]stoppel did not attach to the felony DUI offense charged in the information because felony DUI is not the same offense as any of the misdemeanor ticket offenses. We reject the district court of appeals determination that the only difference between the two offenses is the severity of punishment. Felony DUI requires proof of an additional element that misdemeanor DUI does not: the existence of three or more prior misdemeanor DUI convictions. Felony DUI is therefore completely separate offense a from misdemeanor DUI, not simply a penalty enhancement. Consequently, the principle of estoppel did not work to bar prosecution of the felony DUI offense. (citations omitted).

Id. (Emphasis added).

Petitioner does not argue that the nolle prosequi tolls the speedy trial period. <u>See</u> Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.191(o). After 90 days from the date of arrest had elapsed, the state would have been prohibited from re-filing the **misdemeanor** DUI offense. This is not the case here. The State filed a **felony** information against Defendant, charging him with felony DUI, an offense that the <u>Woodruff</u> Court calls a **A**completely separate offense,@ and was therefore subject to the felony speedy trial rule, which had not yet run. Therefore, because misdemeanor DUI and felony DUI are not the same crime, the Fourth District=s reliance on 3.191(o), is error, as the state did not re-file charges based on the same conduct.

Further, the Fourth District=s reliance on <u>Woodruff</u>, for the holding that the discharge of the misdemeanor in county court would preclude a felony prosecution based on the same incident and prior DUI convictions, is also misplaced. Here, the State filed

a valid **A**no information[@] on the county court misdemeanor. In <u>Woodruff</u>, the nolle prosequi entered by the State was invalid and as a result did not deprive the county court of jurisdiction. This is explained in the district court opinion under review in <u>Woodruff</u>. The District Court in <u>State v. Woodruff</u>, 654 So.2d 585, 587 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995), held that the state=s nolle prosequi of the misdemeanor tickets was a nullity because it was not filed within the **A**window period,@provided for in 3.191(p), which requires defendant to file a notice of expiration of speedy trial, requires the court to hold a hearing within five days and requires that defendant be brought to trial within 10 days of that hearing.

At bar, the State did take action. After defendant filed a notice of expiration of speedy trial, the state filed a valid **A**no information,[@] three days later, effectively ending the misdemeanor case. Therefore, Respondent=s subsequent motion for discharge was directed to a non-existent case and therefore a nullity, as the county court correctly found below.

It bears repeating that Petitioner is not arguing that the **A**no information[@] stopped the speedy trial clock. If the State had attempted to file a new **misdemeanor** case against Defendant after the nolle prosequi, it would have been subject to the original speedy trial period. This is not the case here. The State filed a **felony** information alleging a wholly different crime, and was subject to the longer felony speedy trial period which had not expired. The valid discharge of the misdemeanor DUI had no effect on the felony DUI charge, and the Fourth District erred in finding that it did. This argument is supported by the holding in <u>State v. Psomas</u>, 766 So. 2d 1085 (Fla. 2d DCA 2000). <u>Psomas</u> is factually similar to the case at bar, except that in <u>Psomas</u> the state failed to enter a nolle prosequi in the county court case before it was discharged. The court upheld the action of the county court, which had ruled that **A**absent consolidation of the misdemeanor charge with the felony charge **or a nolle prosequi of the misdemeanor charge**, the misdemeanor case was still viable in county court@ and thus subject to discharge for violation of the speedy trial rule. <u>Id.</u> <u>Psomas</u>, suggests that if the State had entered a nolle prosequi of the misdemeanor case, the misdemeanor case would not have been **A**viable@ and therefore not subject to discharge.

A felony DUI charge under ' 316.193(2)(b), often begins as a misdemeanor DUI, which is later filed as a felony DUI information after the defendant=s prior DUI convictions are discovered. If the ruling below is allowed to stand, a felony DUI charge will be subject to a 90-day speedy trial period, because the defendant may discharge the misdemeanor case after 90 days, even if the State has nol-prossed it, and then use that discharge to dismiss the felony case.

Respondent has already proven that he is undeterred by the sanctions imposed for his previous drunk driving convictions from continuing his reckless behavior. The effect of the Fourth District=s opinion is that serial drunk drivers can be discharged on the finest of technicalities, by imposing <u>a de facto</u> 90-day speedy trial period for serial DUI, of which most prosecutors are unaware and therefore may unwittingly violate. In <u>State v. Williams</u>, 791 So. 2d 1088,1093 (Fla. 2001), in his Dissent, Justice Wells expressed his concern that this Courts interpretation of the speedy trial has created a judicial statute of limitation without foundation in the language of the rule.

Petitioner argues that under the holding of the Fourth District below, the following scenario could occur: Defendant is arrested for DUI, and issued a misdemeanor DUI citation. A misdemeanor case is opened in county court. One week after the arrest, the State Attorney discovers that Defendant has two previous DUI convictions, announces a nolle prosequi of the misdemeanor case, and files a felony information. Ninety-five days after the arrest, Defendant moves for a discharge on the misdemeanor case because the speedy trial period has expired, even though there had been no action in county court since the State announced the nolle prosequi.

Under the reasoning of the court below, the county court would be free to discharge a defendant on the misdemeanor case, even though it had been nol-prossed shortly after it was filed. Moreover, the circuit court would be obligated to dismiss the felony case because the misdemeanor case had been discharged. In effect, the ruling of the court below mandates a 90-day misdemeanor speedy trial period for felony DUI, as long as there was any action in the county court prior to filing a felony information (a common occurrence). This absurd result is not contemplated by the felony DUI statute, the speedy trial rule, the <u>Agee</u> decision, or common sense.

This Court must recognize that the State violated no substantial right of the

Defendant in this case, and that his novel argument may grievously harm the State=s compelling interest in keeping serial drunk drivers off our roads. <u>State v. Agee</u> does not apply to this case, and this Court should therefore reverse.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing arguments and authorities cited therein, the State of Florida respectfully requests this Honorable Court to QUASH the lower court-s decision and REMAND for further proceedings.