IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

vs.

JEFFREY LOVELACE,

Respondent.

Case No. SC05-1395

Lower Ct. No. 4D05-746

On Review of a Decision of the District Court of Appeal,
Fourth District

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

Charles D. Barnard
CHARLES D. BARNARD, P.A.
3940 North Andrews Avenue
Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33309
(954) 561-5880
FLA BAR NO.: 195890
Attorney for Respondent

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

Lovelace accepts the State's Statement of the Case and Facts as an accurate representation of the proceedings below pertinent to the issues before this Court.

The statute Lovelace was charged with violating in the information filed in the circuit court is Section 316.193(2)(b)1, Florida Statutes (2003). The State has referred to it by the session law pursuant to which it was adopted.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

1. The decision of the district court does not conflict with that of *State v. Jackson*, 784 So.2d 1229 (Fla. 1st DCA 2001), *review denied*, 805 So.2d 807 (Fla. 2002). The determinative issue, as found by the *Jackson* court, was that on the filing of an information in circuit court *charging both felony and misdemeanor DUI*, the county court lost jurisdiction over the misdemeanor DUI charge pending there. In the case at bar the information filed in the circuit court charged *only* felony DUI. Since the circuit court never acquired jurisdiction over a misdemeanor DUI charge it could not have exclusive jurisdiction over it. Accordingly, the case at bar could not be resolved on the basis of the issue that was found to be determinative in *Jackson*. This case and *Jackson*, therefore, do not conflict and this Court lacks conflict jurisdiction.

2. The decision reached by the district court is mandated by this Court's decision in *State v. Woodruff*, 676 So.2d 975 (Fla. 1996). In *Woodruff* this Court held that a felony DUI conviction based on prior misdemeanor DUI convictions is precluded when a conviction on the underlying misdemeanor DUI is barred by the speedy-trial rule. The germane facts of the case at bar are indistinguishable from those of *Woodruff*. A misdemeanor DUI charge remained pending in county court when charges were filed in circuit court, and that misdemeanor charge became barred by the failure to afford the defendant a speedy trial. The misdemeanor charge having become barred, the felony prosecution was precluded. The "no information" filed by the State in the county court was not the equivalent of a *nol pros*, and in any event a *nol pros* would not have precluded the running of the speedy-trial period. To avoid the running of the speedy-trial period the State should have consolidated felony and misdemeanor charges in circuit court.

ARGUMENT

I. THE DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT IN THIS CASE DOES NOT CONFLICT WITH *STATE V. JACKSON* AND THIS COURT ACCORDINGLY LACKS JURISDICTION.

The district court's certification of conflict was based on the premise that its decision conflicts with that of the First District in *State v. Jackson*, 784 So.2d 1229 (Fla. 1st DCA 2001), *review denied*, 805 So.2d 807 (Fla. 2002). The case at bar differs significantly from *Jackson*. This distinction compels a conclusion that the decisions are not in conflict and that this Court accordingly lacks jurisdiction. A dispositive distinction is that in *Jackson* the information filed in the circuit court charged both misdemeanor and felony DUI whereas in the instant case the circuit court information charged only felony DUI.

In *Jackson* the defendant initially was charged with misdemeanor DUI in county court. He had been arrested on October 21, 1999. On January 10, 2000, the State *nol-prossed* the county-court charges. The defendant gave notice of the expiration of the speedy-trial period and moved for discharge on January 25, 2000, which was 96 days after the defendant's arrest. On February 3, 2000, prior to the county court's ruling on the motion for discharge, the State filed an information in circuit court charging the defendant with his fourth misdemeanor DUI offense as

well as felony DUI based on a fourth DUI. Subsequently, the county court granted the defendant's motion for discharge. Then the defendant moved to dismiss the charges in circuit court, relying on *State v. Woodruff*, 676 So.2d 975 (Fla. 1996). The circuit court granted the motion and the State appealed.

The case at bar has a significantly different procedural history. In its opinion the Fourth District described the history of the instant case as follows:

Defendant was arrested and issued a citation for misdemeanor DUI on August 11, 2004. A few days after the ninety day speedy trial period expired, defendant filed a notice of expiration of speedy trial time on November 15, 2004, in county court. The state then filed a "no information" on November 19, 2004. Defendant was not brought to trial and moved for discharge on November 30, 2004, which was the end of the fifteen day recapture period.

The next day, on December 1, 2004, the state filed a felony DUI charge in circuit court based on the same incident and prior DUI convictions. *See* § 316.193(2)(b)1, Fla. Stat. (2004). The county court in which the misdemeanor charge had been pending held a hearing on defendant's motion for discharge on December 6, 2004 and concluded it had no jurisdiction to grant the motion because of the "no information" filed by the state.

.....
After the county court concluded it had no jurisdiction to grant the motion for discharge, defendant filed a motion for discharge in circuit court, where the felony information was pending, which was denied. His motion was based on *State v. Woodruff*, 676 So.2d 975 (Fla.1996), in which it was held that the discharge of a

misdemeanor DUI in county court based on the speedy trial rule would preclude a felony prosecution based on the same incident and prior DUI convictions. ...

Lovelace v. State, 906 So.2d 1258, 1259 (Fla. 4th DCA 2005). The circuit court denied the motion for discharge.

In *Jackson*, *supra*, the district court reversed the circuit court, reasoning:

The case at bar is different from *Woodruff* because in this case, the State filed a nolle prosequi in county court and refiled the misdemeanor charge in circuit court. Because the State filed new charges in circuit court after its nolle prosequi in county court, the circuit court obtained exclusive jurisdiction pursuant to section 26.012(2)(d), Florida Statutes (circuit courts “shall have exclusive original jurisdiction: Of all felonies and of all misdemeanors arising out of the same circumstances as a felony which is also charged;”); *Ledlow v. State*, 743 So.2d 165 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999)(circuit court had subject matter jurisdiction over felony and misdemeanor, quoting § 26.012(2)(d), Fla. Stat.); *State v. R.J.*, 763 So.2d 370, 371 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998)(“Everything which occurs in a proceeding subsequent to the filing of a nolle prosequi by the state is a nullity.”); *State v. Spence*, 658 So.2d 660, 661 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995)(“Upon the state’s announcement of a nol pros of the information, which was self-executing, the case was effectively nullified and the proceeding terminated.”). The discharge by the county court is of no effect because the county court lost jurisdiction. Accordingly, there is no estoppel to the misdemeanor DUI charge brought in circuit court as was the case in *Woodruff*.

784 So.2d at 1231.

In *Jackson* it was the circuit court's acquisition of jurisdiction *over the misdemeanor charge* that, according to the district court, deprived the county court of jurisdiction in the case. Thus, reasoned the court, the county court's order of discharge was a nullity in the absence of jurisdiction and the misdemeanor remained alive in the circuit court.

In the case at bar, unlike in *Jackson*, the State did not file a misdemeanor charge in conjunction with the felony charge in circuit court. The only charge in the information filed in circuit court was for felony DUI. Nor did the State move to consolidate the county and circuit-court charges. *Cf. Woodruff, supra* 676 So.2d at 977 n.2. Thus, the basis that the *Jackson* court saw for ousting the county court of jurisdiction — that the circuit court had acquired exclusive jurisdiction over the misdemeanor charge(s) — is totally lacking here. Regardless of whether *Jackson* was correctly decided, it involved a different issue than that which is determinative in the case at bar. It accordingly does not conflict with *Lovelace*, with the result that this Court lacks conflict jurisdiction.

II. THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY DETERMINED THAT THE FELONY DUI PROSECUTION WAS BARRED AND THE CIRCUIT COURT SHOULD HAVE DISCHARGED THE DEFENDANT.

This issue involves a question of law arising from undisputed facts. The standard of review accordingly is de novo. *Global Travel Mktg., Inc. v. Shea*, 908 So.2d 392, 396 (Fla. 2005).

The decision of the district court is consistent with and indeed mandated by this Court's decision in *State v. Woodruff*, 676 So.2d 975 (Fla. 1996). This case is indistinguishable from *Woodruff* in regard to the critical issues. The germane facts in regard to both cases are that viable misdemeanor DUI charges remained pending in the county court when an information was filed in the circuit court, and that those county-court charges became barred by the speedy-trial rule. Because of the language of the particular statute involved, a felony DUI conviction could not be obtained without a concurrent misdemeanor DUI conviction.

In *Woodruff* the defendant was charged with five driving misdemeanors, including DUI offenses, by uniform traffic citation. A month later the State filed an information in circuit court charging the defendant with felony and misdemeanor DUI. After the expiration of 90 days from his arrest the defendant filed a notice of

expiration. After he filed a motion for discharge the state *nol-prossed* the county-court citations.

In the instant case Lovelace was charged by uniform traffic citation in county court with misdemeanor DUI. More than 90 days after his arrest he filed a notice of expiration in the county court. Seven days later the State filed a “no information” in the county court. When the 15-day speedy-trial window had expired, Lovelace filed a motion for discharge. The following day the State filed an information in circuit court charging him with felony DUI.

The proceedings in the county court raise the issue of the effect of the State filing a “no information.” In its brief the State casts its argument under the premise that a “no information” is equivalent to a *nol pros*. This is a false premise. A *nol pros* (or *nolle prosequi*) is a procedure that is derived from the common law and operates to terminate a criminal case where the defendant has already been charged. *See, Wilson v. Renfro*, 91 So.2d 857, 859 (Fla. 1957). A “no information,” however, does not terminate charges where a charging document has already been filed with the court. *Purchase v. State*, 866 So.2d 208 (Fla. 3d DCA 2004). In the instant case, where a criminal charge by uniform traffic citation was

pending when the “no information” was filed, the misdemeanor charge was not affected by the “no information.” The filing of an information was not necessary for the prosecution to proceed. Rule 6.165(a) of the Florida Rules of Traffic Court provides that criminal traffic offenses may be prosecuted by uniform traffic citation rather than indictment or information. Jurisdiction over the misdemeanor charge continued in the county court.

Even if the “no information” were the equivalent of a *nol pros* for purposes of this case, the county court nevertheless would have continued to have jurisdiction to enter an order of discharge. In *Woodruff* the State *nol-prossed* the traffic citations the day after the defendant filed his motion for discharge. Although the opinions of this Court and the district court in *Woodruff* do not reveal the date the county court’s order of discharge was entered, it almost certainly was after the State had *nol-prossed* the traffic citations. This would indicate that the *nol pros* did not deprive the county court of jurisdiction.

State v. Jackson, supra, cannot be reconciled with *Woodruff* in this regard. The *Jackson* court concluded that the filing in circuit court of an information charging both felony and misdemeanor DUI deprived the county court of jurisdiction over the misdemeanor charge. Yet the filing of an information in

circuit court charging both felony and misdemeanor DUI is precisely what occurred in *Woodruff*. This Court in *Woodruff* concluded that the county court's order of discharge was effective. This was an order entered after the information had been filed in the circuit court. The county court would have been deprived of jurisdiction in both *Jackson* and *Woodruff* if the State had moved in those cases to consolidate the county and circuit-court charges. *Woodruff, supra* 676 So.2d at 977 n.2. But there was no motion to consolidate in *Jackson*. Accordingly, it is inconsistent with *Woodruff*.

In this case the Fourth District correctly observed this flaw in *Jackson*, stating:

The *Jackson* panel pointed out that, under rule 3.191(f), when a felony and misdemeanor are consolidated for trial in circuit court, the longer felony speedy trial applies to the misdemeanor charge. That rule, however, was not applicable in *Jackson*, because the misdemeanor charge was pending in county court, and not consolidated with a felony information pending in circuit court. The state's reliance on rule 3.191(f) in the present case is misplaced for the same reason.

906 So.2d at 1260.

The State attempts to distinguish *State v. Agee*, 622 So.2d 473 (Fla. 1993). It confuses the impact of the speedy-trial rule on the misdemeanor DUI charge with

that on the felony DUI charge. Lovelace has not contended, and the district court did not hold, that the felony DUI charge was barred by the speedy-trial rule. The district court correctly concluded that the felony DUI prosecution was precluded because prosecution of the misdemeanor DUI charge was barred under the speedy-trial rule.

In concluding its argument the State raised some issues that are nothing more than red herrings. The State contends that if the ruling below is allowed to stand a felony DUI charge will be subject to a 90-day speedy-trial rule. (Petitioner's Brief at 14). This is obviously not true as the possibilities in this very case demonstrate. One such possibility is that the State could have filed the felony charge in circuit court before the expiration of the speedy-trial period and moved to consolidate the felony and misdemeanor charges. *Woodruff* states in the most unambiguous terms that this is an appropriate course to take in such situations. 676 So.2d at 977 n.2. Contrary to the State's contention, this would not result in a 90-day speedy trial period for the felony count, but would result in a 175-day period for both the felony and misdemeanor. Another option would have been for the State to seek an extension of the speedy-trial period if the facts warranted. *State v. Agee, supra* 622 So.2d at 475; FLA. R. CRIM. P. 3.191(f).

The State concludes that Lovelace had no substantial right violated and that his argument is “novel.” His right to a speedy trial has been violated and the decisions of this Court demonstrate that the right is in fact substantial. The argument is not novel to those familiar with *Woodruff*.

CONCLUSION

The Court should determine that the decision of the district court does not conflict with that in *State v. Jackson* and that the Court accordingly lacks conflict jurisdiction. If the Court determines that it has jurisdiction, it should affirm the decision of the district court.